IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01678

SHIRLEY JEAN COLLINS

APPELLANT-PLAINTIFF

VS.

KOPPERS INC., ET AL.

APPELLEES-DEFENDANTS

APPELLANT FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRENADA COUNTY HONORABLE JOSEPH H. LOPER, JR., CIRCUIT JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT SHIRLEY JEAN COLLINS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Hunter W. Lundy (MSB No. Kristie M. Hightower (MSB No. LUNDY, LUNDY, SOILEAU & SOUTH, LLP 501 Broad Street Lake Charles, Louisiana 70601 (337) 439-0707

Wilbur O. Colom (MSB No THE COLOM LAW FIRM P.O. Box 866 Columbus, MS 39703 (662) 328-0903

Attorneys for Shirley Jean Collins

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01678

SHIRLEY JEAN COLLINS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. When a Plaintiff's Case Is Not Set for Trial, No Scheduling Order Is In Place, Volumes of Depositions Have Been Taken in the Ongoing Litigation, and the Plaintiff Has Presented Experts as to General Causation, Is It an Abuse of the Trial Court's Discretion to Dismiss her Cause of Action with Prejudice Pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b)?
- II. When a Plaintiff Has Presented Evidence That She Has Been Diagnosed with Colon Cancer, Heart Disease, Diabetes and High Blood Pressure, That She Lived and Attended Elementary School Near a Wood Treatment Facility That Released Creosote and Pentachlorophenol, Known Carcinogens, and the Expert Report Provides that Her Ailments Are Causally Associated with the Toxic Exposure from the Defendant's Facility, Does the Trial Court Err in Granting Summary Judgment in Favor of the Defendants?
- III. When a Defendant Makes No Mention of Any Argument, Other than One Regarding Personal Injury, In Their Original Motion for Summary Judgment, Does the Trial Court Err in Granting Summary Judgment as to the Plaintiff's Claims in their Entirety?
- IV. When a Plaintiff, in Her Summary Judgment Response, Specifically Requests a Hearing As Contemplated by Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure Where She May Put Forth Live Evidence and Appear to Testify Personally and She Receives No Denial of Her Request and/or Opportunity to Supplement Her Response, Does the Trial Court Err in Denying the Plaintiff a Hearing and Granting Summary Judgment "on Written Briefs" Alone?
- V. When a Plaintiff Has Presented Evidence That She Has Been Diagnosed with Colon Cancer, Heart Disease, Diabetes and High Blood Pressure Which Are Opined by the Plaintiff's Expert to Be Causally Related to the Toxic Exposure of the Defendants' Wood Treatment Facility Near the Plaintiff's Home and Elementary School and the Plaintiff's Attorneys Have Been Successful at Trial in a Similar Matter, Is It An Abuse of the Trial Court's Discretion to Order Monetary Sanctions Against the Plaintiff and Her Attorneys Because, According to the Court, Her Complaint is Frivolous?
- VI Alternatively, When a Defendant Submits a Statement of Attorney's Fees and Costs, Basing Their Fees on a Proration Formula with Nothing Other than Affidavits to Support Their Claim and Requesting Reimbursement for Nominal and/or Duplicative Work, and the Trial Court Orders the Plaintiff and Her Attorneys to Pay Those Fees and Costs, Is It an Abuse of

the Trial Court's Discretion?

VII. When Attorneys Who Were Not of Record and Were Not Active in the Proceedings Are Sanctioned, Is It an Abuse of the Trial Court's Discretion?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of Case and Course of Proceedings.

This matter is one of a group of cases filed in Grenada, Mississippi, regarding environmental contamination by a wood treatment facility which pressure treats railroad ties, poles and lumber with creosote and pentachlorophenol. The Court cannot look at this case in isolation. Plaintiff's counsel have tried one case before the United States Court for the Northern District of Mississippi, specifically, *Beck (Barnes) v. Koppers, Inc., et al.,* C.A. No. 3:03CV-60-P-D, where the jury found liability and returned an \$850,000 verdict in favor of the plaintiff on behalf of her mother, who died of breast cancer at the age of thirty-four (34). While that case was appealed and overturned, the Fifth Circuit overturned the verdict based upon the issue of statute of limitations, not the liability of Defendants. In the same context, the statute of limitations issue was recently brought before the Mississippi Supreme Court. Arguments were heard March 8, 2010, in a companion case to *Collins*, that of *Rebekah Angle v. Koppers Inc., et al.*, Circuit Court of Grenada County, Mississippi, No. 2006-194-CV-L, Supreme Court Cause Number 2008-CA-02045, and the parties are awaiting a decision on that matter.

Plaintiff respectfully asks the Court to take notice of the time-consuming, expensive and diligent actions Plaintiff's counsel have taken on behalf of all of the plaintiffs which is crucial to understanding the posture of these cases. Additionally, all cases must be tried with only two courts involved, and all must be filed or the statutes of limitations would run on them.

Shirley Jean Collins brought suit against Koppers Inc., Beazer East, Inc., Three Rivers Management (sometimes hereinafter referred to as the "Koppers Defendants") and Illinois Central

2

Railroad Company (hereinafter referred to as "Illinois Central") on March 17, 2006,¹ alleging exposure to toxic chemicals and various other harmful constituents generated by the Defendants' wood treatment processes and/or contribution thereto. [R. 3-40.] Counsel reached an agreement regarding acceptance of process, also agreeing answers would be filed by May 19, 2006. See R. at 41. On May 19, 2006, two (2) motions to dismiss were filed – one by Illinois Central and the other by Koppers Inc., Beazer East, Inc. and Three Rivers Management, Inc. [R. 43-45, 46-61.] Defendants' motions were denied June 29, 2006, and Plaintiff was ordered to provide a more definite statement in accordance with Rule 12(e).² [R. 99.] Plaintiff filed her more definite statement August 14, 2006. [R. 100-05.] Defendants, Illinois Central, Koppers Inc., and Beazer East, Inc. and Three Rivers thereafter in August 2006. [R. 106-26, 127-59, 160-92.]

The parties began exchanging discovery August 31, 2006, exchanging the majority of discovery from that date to December 28, 2006, and throughout 2007. [R.E. 1.] Koppers Inc., Beazer East, Inc. and Three Rivers Management filed on September 17, 2008, a Motion for Expert Disclosure. [R. 234-62.] On December 3, 2008, the trial court entered an order granting Defendants'

¹Suit was also brought against Hanson PLC, Hanson Building Materials Limited, Hanson Holdings, Limited, Hanson Holdings Basalt, Inc., Hanson Holdings Aragonite, Inc., HBMA Holdings, Inc. (sometimes hereinafter referred to as the "Hanson Defendants"). The Hanson Defendants were later dismissed for lack of *in personam* jurisdiction.

²The trial court set out in it's order:

The [Defendants'] basis for these motions is that the complaint has failed to provide "core information" as required by the Court's order of December 15, 2005, [in *Rebekah C. Angle v. Koppers Inc., et al.*]. The Defendants only refer to the order of this Court and do not cite any rule of law that would justify dismissal at this time. The Court can only conclude that these motions are akin to a 12(b)(6) motion.

[[]R. 99.] The trial court found that "while it is true that certain information is lacking...the complaint does at least set out a claim upon which relief can be sought," making dismissal inappropriate. *Id.* However, while not relief specifically plead, with its inherent authority, the trial court ordered Plaintiff to provide a more definite statement to Defendants. *Id.*

motion. [R. 326-27.] Plaintiff filed a Motion for Relief from Order on December 12, 2008, seeking additional time to respond in light of conflicts with Plaintiff's expert witnesses and Plaintiff's counsel [R. 329-32]; however, her motion was denied with the trial court finding "that the information that was ordered to be provided to the defendants is information that should have been in the possession of the plaintiff's attorney prior to the filing of a complaint, and at the very latest, when the plaintiff filed a more definite statement ... "³ [R. 341-42.] In the meantime, on or about December 19, 2008, Plaintiffs' counsel determined The Colom Law Firm would respond to all Grenada County motions and discovery. Plaintiff served her Supplemental Responses to Beazer East, Inc.'s First Set of Combined Interrogatories, Requests for Production of Documents and Request to Admit and Second Supplemental Response to Defendant, Three Rivers Management, Inc.'s First Request to Admit, Interrogatories and Document Production on January 5, 2009. [R. 360-72; R. 373-81.] On January 14, 2009, Defendants, Koppers Inc., Beazer East, Inc. and Three Rivers Management, filed their Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, for Summary Judgement and for Sanctions [R. 349-81], in which Illinois Central joined on or about January 19, 2009. [R. 382-84.] The trial court issued an order requiring Plaintiff to respond to Defendants' motion within ten (10) days of its January 22, 2009 order [R. 385], but that order was not received by counsel and the trial court granted summary judgment February 12, 2009. See affidavits of Andre F. Ducote [R. 395-96],

³Plaintiff was ordered to, within thirty (30) days of the entry of the order:

^{1.} Identify the basis, *including all expert opinions*, for the contention that a particular chemical can cause the specific medical conditions for which the plaintiff complaints.

^{2.} Identify the basis, *including all expert opinions*, for the contention that the particular chemical has actually in fact caused the specific medical conditions for which the plaintiff complains.

^{3.} Identify the basis, *including all expert opinions*, for establishing how the plaintiff's exposure to a specific chemical, both in manner and amount, was sufficient in fact to cause the plaintiff's specific medical conditions.

^{4.} Respond fully and completely to Interrogatory 21 seeking expert disclosures and supplement all discovery requests seeking expert information.

[[]R. 326-27.] (emphasis added).

Hunter W. Lundy [R. 397] and J.P. Hughes, Jr. [R. 398.] Wilbur O. Colom filed his Entry of Appearance on February 6, 2009. [R. 387-88.] Plaintiff filed a Motion to Set Aside Summary Judgment on February 20, 2009 [R. 391-98], which the trial court granted March 10, 2009.⁴ [R. 446-49.] With eighteen (18) pending cases, Plaintiff's counsel filed a Motion to Enter Scheduling Order on March 18, 2009, again, not to create delay, but "to give appropriate priority" since all of the cases could not be tried at the same time. [R. 450-53.] Plaintiff filed her Response to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, for Summary Judgment and for Sanctions on March 23, 2009. [R. 459-76.] The Koppers Defendants followed with a reply in support of their motion on March 30, 2009 [R.545-58], in which Illinois Central joined [R. 559-60], to which Plaintiff responded with her Motion to Strike the Reply of Defendants' in Their Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment filed April 6, 2009. [R. 561-63.] Plaintiff contended Defendants set forth arguments including theories of law and fact not advanced in the initial motion; thus, Plaintiff had inadequate opportunity to respond, resulting in a denial of due process. Id. On September 1, 2009, the trial court's opinion was entered into the record [R.E. 4; R. 570-90], and on September 15, 2009, the trial court entered its Amended Judgment of Dismissal and Summary Judgment, ordering that Plaintiff and her counsel pay sanctions [R.E. 3; R. 603-04]. Aggrieved by this decision, Collins timely filed her Notice of Appeal. [R. 615.]

II. Statement of the Facts.

The Koppers wood treatment facility near the town of Grenada, Mississippi, has been in almost continuous operation since the year 1904, with Koppers and its predecessors producing

⁴In light of Plaintiff's motion, the trial court contacted the clerk of court and was advised that a copy of the order was mailed to Plaintiff's attorneys, postage due. [R. 447.] Based on counsel's affidavits and the clerk's method of mailing, the trial court found Plaintiff's attorneys had no notice of the order entered on January 22, 2009, and set aside the Summary Judgement entered on February 12, 2009, giving Plaintiff five (5) days to file a written response. [R. 447-48.]

primarily pressure treated railroad cross ties and telephone poles using creosote and pentachlorophenol. Dioxin is a constituent of pentachlorophenol and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are a constituent of creosote. The plant is situated on 171 acres and is located five (5) miles southeast of Grenada, Mississippi, between State Highway 51 and the Batupan Bogue Creek. Just west and northeast of the Plant is a residential community known as Tie Plant.

The physical pathways in which plaintiff contends she was exposed include the offsite migrations of dioxins, furans, benzene, benzo[a]pyrene, naphthalene, and other chemicals from the process waste liquids and the waste preservative liquids that were emitted from the Plant. Also, vapors and gases of these same chemicals of concern were emitted as a result of elevated process temperatures, which then migrated offsite and came to rest at local schools in the community, and other locations where the plaintiff either lived, worked, played or visited. In addition to the above-described offsite migration of toxic chemicals, there were offsite soot products and by products of combustion resulting from: 1) fires at the Plant; 2) boiler burning operations; 3) the opening of cylinder doors; 4) emitting volatile vapors from treatment process operations; 5) emitting volatile vapors from treated ties and poles; 6) emitting volatile vapors from aerosol droplets from operations, including fog mist containing dissolved concentrations of these toxic chemicals coming from the Koppers' waste disposal spray field across from the Carver Circle community; and 7) from other contaminated soils and conditions on the property.

Shirley Jean Collins was born in 1949, in Grenada, Mississippi, and lived at Route 1, Box 98 for a large portion of her life. [R. 100.] Additionally, as a child, she attended Tie Plant Elementary School which is located on what was previously Koppers' own plant property. [R. 100; R. 22-23.] She lived at the Route 1 address from approximately 1951 until 1967, and from approximately 1957 until 1961, attended the Tie Plant Elementary School. [R. 100.] While growing up, she played in the ditches near the Koppers facility and drank water from a creek in the vicinity of the Koppers plant as well. [R. 100.] Throughout this time, Collins received chronic exposure, inhaling, ingesting and being exposed through the skin to the toxic contaminants. Collins began suffering from dizziness beginning in 1981. [R. 100.] She was then diagnosed with high blood pressure in 1992, heart disease in 1993, diabetes in 2004, and colon cancer in 2005. [R. 100-05.]

Litigation has been ongoing for some years regarding the Koppers Grenada wood treatment facility in both state and federal courts with one trial having occurred in the Northern District of Mississippi before Judge W. Allen Pepper, Jr. The jury in that action, *Beck (Barnes) v. Koppers, Inc., et al.*, United States District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi, C.A. No. 3:03CV-60-P-D, returned a compensatory verdict in the amount of \$850,000 in favor of the plaintiff against Beazer and Koppers, finding that they operated the Grenada wood treatment facility in a negligent manner causing the mother of the plaintiff to be exposed to toxic chemicals which resulted in her development of breast cancer and eventually her death. While the Fifth Circuit eventually overturned that verdict, it did so based on statute of limitations, an issue which is now on appeal in the Mississippi Supreme Court in the case of *Angle v. Koppers Inc., et al.*, Circuit Court of Grenada County, Mississippi, No. 2006-194-CV-L, Supreme Court Cause Number 2008-CA-02045.

Extensive discovery has been conducted, including expert depositions, plaintiffs' depositions and voluminous document production. Further, a number of experts have rendered opinions regarding the Koppers facility. These experts include: (1) Nicholas Cheremisinoff, who provided opinions and testimony regarding the acceptable standard of care, environmental regulatory compliance and state of the art practices for wood treatment facilities; (2) Devraj Sharma, who provided opinions and testimony on air and surface water modeling to show the pathways of exposure; (3) Randy Horsak, who provided opinions and testimony regarding soil and attic dust samples taken in the Carver Circle neighborhood in which chemicals associated with the Grenada wood preserving facility were found; (4) Glen Johnson, who provided opinions and testimony fingerprinting chemicals found in soil and attic dust samples taken from the yards and homes in Carver Circle to the Grenada wood treatment facility; (5) James Bruya, who also provided opinions and testimony fingerprinting the chemicals found in soil and attic dust samples taken from the yards and homes in Carver Circle to the Grenada wood treatment facility; (6) William Sawyer, a toxicologist who provided opinions and testimony regarding general medical causation; and (7) James Dahlgren, a medical doctor with toxicological training who provided opinions and testimony regarding specific medical causation. The Defendants deposed almost all of these experts for several days each. While these experts had not yet rendered reports specific to Collins' exposure and ailments, their previous reports and deposition testimony were applicable and had been produced to Defendants.

Shirley Jean Collins was originally a plaintiff in *Rebekah C. Angle, et al. vs. Koppers Inc., et al.*, Circuit Court of Grenada County, Mississippi, No. 2005-299-CV-L (hereinafter referred to as "*Angle*"); however, the trial court found that the claims of the plaintiffs were improperly joined and ordered them severed, looking to Judge Pepper's opinion in the related *Beck* case. [R. 51-56.] In its order, the trial court required that each of the *Angle* plaintiffs refile an individual complaint within thirty (30) days of the entry of its February 16, 2006 judgment. Collins, as noted above, refiled her complaint March 15, 2006, and is one of eighteen (18) remaining *Angle* plaintiffs.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Dismissal

Collins contends the trial court abused its discretion in dismissing her action pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Procedure Rule 41(b), when it found "given the length of time this litigation has been ongoing and the fact that the plaintiff has failed to provide the information concerning expert witnesses, and has done very little to advance this litigation, this court finds that dismissal of this action pursuant to M.R.C.P. 41(b) is appropriate." [R.E. 3; R. 575-76.] Plaintiff submits to this

Court that: (1) no clear record of delay or pattern of contumacious conduct exists, (2) lesser sanctions were not considered and (3) no aggravating facts were present. Am. Tel. & Te. Co. v. Days Inn of Winona, 720 So. 2d 178, 180-81 (¶¶ 12-13) (Miss. 1998). Because the required elements are lacking for dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(b), the dismissal was inappropriate and an abuse of the trial court's discretion.

II. Summary Judgment

Collins further argues that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of defendants. On motion for summary judgment, "the moving party has the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of material fact exists, and the non-moving party must be given the benefit of the doubt concerning the existence of a material fact." Howard v. City of Biloxi, 943 So. 2d 751, 754 ¶4 (Miss App. 2006) (quoting City of Jackson v. Sutton, 797 So. 2d 977, 979 ¶7 (Miss. 2001). Collins was denied a summary judgment hearing despite her request for same. The trial court found that "oral arguments would not be beneficial" and considered Defendants' Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, for Summary Judgment and for Sanctions, completely disregarding Collins' request for a hearing. [R.E. 3; R. 570.] (Emphasis added.) In Adams v. Cinemark USA, Inc., the Supreme Court found that, due to the finality of summary judgments, the trial court erred in not granting a hearing on the motion. Adams v. Cinemark USA, Inc., 831 So. 2d 1156, 1163 (¶ 26) (Miss. 2002). In the case sub judice, Plaintiff specifically requested a hearing so that she would have an opportunity to put on evidence, stating in her response to Defendants' motion as follows: "As contemplated by M.R.C.P. 56(c), Plaintiff requests a hearing on this matter where she may put forth live evidence and appear to testify personally." [R. 467.] Mississippi law in general requires adherence to the notice and hearing requirements of Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, yet Collins' request was not only denied, but ignored. Rule 56(c) clearly states that the adverse party may serve opposing affidavits "prior to the day of the hearing." Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c).

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