#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-01678

SHIRLEY JEAN COLLINS

APPELLANT-PLAINTIFF

VS.

KOPPERS INC., ET AL

APPELLEES-DEFENDANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRENADA COUNTY HONORABLE JOSEPH H. LOPER, JR., CIRCUIT JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLEES KOPPERS INC., BEAZER EAST, INC. AND THREE RIVERS MANAGEMENT. INC.

## ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Christopher A. Shapley, MSB No. Robert L. Gibbs, MSB No.

William Trey Jones III, MSB No.

Joseph Anthony Sclafani, MSB No.

Brunini, Grantham, Grower, & Hewes, PLLC

1400 Trustmark Building 248 East Capitol Street (39201) Jackson, MS 39205-0119 (601) 948-3101 Reuben V. Anderson, MSB No
Phelps Dunbar

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Trial courts have the authority to control their dockets and the discretion to enter orders to ensure that cases proceed fairly and expeditiously. The Circuit Court below was confronted with a mass tort case with over 100 plaintiffs who claimed that virtually every illness they ever suffered in their lifetime was caused by the Grenada Plant. The cases had been pending on the Circuit Court's docket for over three years. During that time, none of the plaintiffs were able to provide any expert reports to support their claims, nor had plaintiffs responded to Defendants' discovery requests seeking expert information. Given this situation, the Circuit Court certainly did not abuse its discretion in entering an order after three years requiring plaintiffs to respond to Defendants' repeated discovery requests and to disclose information from expert witnesses that could establish a causal connection linking plaintiffs' alleged injuries and exposure to chemicals from the Grenada Plant. Plaintiffs repeatedly delayed and defied the Circuit Court's order, and to this day have been unable to submit any expert information in support of their individual claims. In the nine months that followed the Circuit Court's December 3, 2008 Order, plaintiff requested a scheduling conference, twice asked for additional time, filed responses out of time,

and provided discovery responses applicable to other plaintiffs in other cases involving other plants. Plaintiff did everything <u>but</u> comply with the order of the Circuit Court or address the long-standing discovery requests. In short, after four years, Plaintiff still had no facts or experts to support her claims.

The Circuit Court thus did not abuse its discretion when it dismissed Plaintiff's claims pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b). That rule provides that a claim may be dismissed for "failure of the plaintiff...to comply with [the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure] or any order of court." Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 41(b). It is undisputed that Plaintiff never complied with the Circuit Court's December 3, 2008 Order to disclose information from expert witnesses that could establish a causal connection linking her alleged injuries to an exposure to chemicals from the Grenada Plant. Plaintiff submitted no evidence to suggest that she would ever be able to do so. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion when it found that Plaintiff's repeated and intentional failure after nine months to comply with the Court's December 3, 2008 Order warranted dismissal of Plaintiff's claims pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b).

The Circuit Court also correctly entered summary judgment in Defendants' favor on Plaintiff's complaint because Plaintiff failed to make any showing to establish the requisite elements of her claims. It is the plaintiff's burden in a toxic tort case to provide evidence establishing a causal connection between the specific injuries alleged and the alleged chemical exposures. Plaintiff failed to put forth <u>any</u> evidence about anything, including evidence that could link <u>her</u> alleged injuries and damages to exposure to chemicals from the Grenada Plant. Plaintiff thus failed to meet her evidentiary burden and summary judgment was properly entered in Defendants' favor.

Moreover, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion when it entered summary judgment in Defendants' favor without an oral hearing. Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 78

was amended in 2003 to explicitly permit a court to enter summary judgment without a prior hearing. See Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 78 cmt. (rule was amended effective April 17, 2003 "to provide for determination of motions seeking final judgment without oral argument."). Plaintiff relies on cases and holdings from before the amendment of Rule 78. In any event, oral argument would have added nothing to the Circuit Court's deliberative process. No Rule 56 affidavits were submitted, and not a shred of evidence was ever put before the court. Plaintiff had ample time for discovery prior to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment. Because she failed to present any evidence that could link her alleged injuries and damages to exposure to chemicals from the Grenada Plant, the Circuit Court properly entered summary judgment in Defendants' favor.

The Circuit Court also did not abuse its discretion when it assessed sanctions against Plaintiff and Plaintiff's attorneys pursuant to the Litigation Accountability Act of 1988, Miss. Code Ann. § 11-55-1, et seq. ("Litigation Accountability Act"), and Rule 11(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure ("Rule 11 (b)"). The Circuit Court correctly found that Plaintiff's complaint was frivolous and groundless in fact, because – four years into the litigation – it was clear that Plaintiff did not, nor did she ever, have any evidence to support her claims. The Circuit Court properly considered the factors listed in the Litigation Accountability Act and pointed to a number of additional reasons why sanctions were warranted in this case. Given the record in this case, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion when it imposed sanctions against Plaintiff and her counsel. Moreover, the attorneys' fee and cost award was reasonable and supported by the evidence. In determining the amount of the award, the Circuit Court properly relied upon and accepted Defendants' Statement of Attorneys' Fees and Costs, which evidenced the hours worked and the rates claimed, and the requisite factors laid out in Mississippi Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standards of Review.

#### a. Rule 37 and 41 Dismissals

The Court reviews Rule 37 and 41 dismissals for abuse of discretion. *Beck v. Sapet*, 937 So. 2d 945, 948 (Miss. 2006); *Wilson v. Nance*, 4 So. 3d 336, 341 (Miss. 2009). The Court "only reverses if it has a definite and firm conviction that the court below committed a clear error of judgment...." *Beck*, 937 So. 2d at 949.

#### b. Summary Judgment

The standard of review the Court applies to a trial court's entry of summary judgment is de novo. Bullard v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Am., 941 So. 2d 812, 814 (Miss. 2006).

#### c. Sanctions

The Court reviews sanctions orders entered pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 11 and the Litigation Accountability Act of 1988 for abuse of discretion. *In re Spencer*, 985 So. 2d 330, 336-7 (Miss. 2008). "In the absence of a definite and firm conviction that the court below committed a clear error of judgment in the conclusion it reached upon the weighing of the relevant factors, the judgment of the court's imposition of sanctions will be affirmed." *Id.* at 337 (citing Wyssbrod v. Wittjen, 798 So. 2d 352, 357 (Miss. 2001)).

#### d. Attorneys' Fees and Costs

This Court has held that "[t]he trial court is the appropriate entity to award attorney's fees and costs" and that the Court "will not reverse the trial court on the question of attorney's fees unless there is a manifest abuse of discretion in making the allowance." Mabus v. Mabus, 910 So. 2d 486, 488 (Miss. 2005) (citations omitted).

# II. The Circuit Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Dismissed Plaintiff's Claims Pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b).

Forty-five months after suit was first filed, and twenty-seven months after Defendants first sought expert discovery, the Circuit Court on December 3, 2008 ordered Plaintiff to disclose information relating to a causal connection linking Plaintiff's alleged injuries to exposure to chemicals from the Grenada plant. (Appellees' R.E. 3; R. 326-7.) It is undisputed that Plaintiff has never complied with that order. (See Appellant's Brief, p. 8 (admitting that no expert has "rendered reports specific to Collins' exposure and ailments.").) It is also undisputed that Plaintiff has made no showing that she ever will or could comply with that order. Therefore, the Circuit Court correctly dismissed Plaintiff's complaint pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b).

# a. The Circuit Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Entered the December 3, 2008 Order

To the extent Plaintiff suggests that the Circuit Court erred in entering the December 3, 2008 Order, Plaintiff is incorrect. (See Appellant's Brief, pp. 12-13.) As the Circuit Court noted, the December 3, 2008 Order "was entered for the purpose of advancing this litigation and moving this case on the docket, where at that time, it had been languishing since March 17, 2006." (Appellant's R.E. 3; R. 575.) Mississippi law is clear that the trial court has "the authority and indeed a duty to maintain control of the docket and ensure the efficient disposal of court business." Venton v. Beckham, 845 So. 2d 676, 684 (Miss. 2003). Moreover, the trial court has "considerable discretion" in matters pertaining to discovery. Id.; see also Buchanan v. Ameristar Casino Vicksburg, Inc., 957 So. 2d 969, 972-3 (Miss. 2007) ("Our trial judges are afforded considerable discretion in managing the pre-trial discovery process in their courts, including the entry of scheduling orders setting out various deadlines to assure orderly pre-trial preparation resulting in timely disposition of the cases.").

The Angle case involved 114 plaintiffs suing for virtually every illness they had ever experienced in their lifetime. Plaintiffs claimed their exposure caused everything from nosebleeds and hair loss, to more serious conditions such as various types of cancer, Alzheimer's disease, heart disease, and diabetes. Defendants propounded discovery requests on Plaintiff on September 7, 2006, seeking to ascertain the basis for the contention that Plaintiff's specific injuries were attributable to chemicals from the Grenada Plant. (See R. 236.) Several years later, Plaintiff was unable to provide the information Defendants requested. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion when it granted Defendants' Motion for Expert Disclosure and entered the December 3, 2008 Order requiring Plaintiff to disclose information from expert witnesses that could establish a causal connection linking Plaintiff's alleged injuries to an exposure to chemicals from the Grenada Plant. See Buchanan, 957 So. 2d at 972-3; Acuna v. Brown & Root, Inc., 200 F.3d 335, 340-41 (5th Cir. 2000) (finding that the trial court was within its discretion "to take steps to manage the complex and potentially very burdensome discovery that the cases would require" by entering orders requiring plaintiffs to provide expert disclosures in support of certain of their claims).

# b. The Circuit Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Dismissed Plaintiff's Claims Pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b)

A trial court has the authority, pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b), to dismiss a plaintiff's cause of action for failure to comply with the court's orders or the rules of civil procedure. See Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 41(b) ("[f]or failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with these rules or any order of court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him."); Wilson, 4 So. 3d 336 (affirming trial court's dismissal of plaintiff's complaint pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 41(b) for plaintiff's failure to comply with the court's orders); Taylor v. General Motors Corp., 717 So. 2d 747 (Miss. 1998) (affirming trial

court's dismissal of plaintiff's complaint pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 41(b) for plaintiff's failure to comply with the rules of civil procedure). Indeed, as this Court has stated:

Our trial judges are afforded considerable discretion in managing the pre-trial discovery process in their courts including the entry of scheduling orders setting out various deadlines to assure orderly pre-trial preparation resulting in timely disposition of cases. Our trial judges also have a right to expect compliance with their orders, and when parties and/or attorneys fail to adhere to the provisions of these orders, they should be prepared to do so at their peril.

Bowie v. Montfort Jones Mem'l Hosp., 861 So. 2d 1037, 1042 (Miss. 2003).

In this case, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion when it dismissed Plaintiff's complaint pursuant to Rule 41(b) for Plaintiff's failure to comply with its December 3, 2008 Order. The Circuit Court ordered Plaintiff to produce the required information within thirty days, or by January 5, 2009. (Appellees' R.E. 3; R. 326-7.) Rather than comply, Plaintiff filed a "Motion for Relief From Order" requesting additional time. (R. 329-32.) The Circuit Court denied Plaintiff's motion, and again ordered Plaintiff to produce the required information by January 5, 2009. (R. 341-2.) On January 5, 2009 – the court-ordered deadline to produce the requested information – Plaintiff served non-responsive supplemental answers to Defendants' written discovery requests. (R. 360-91.) These vague, generic responses referenced expert opinions and testimony given in other lawsuits with no attempt to explain how those opinions in any way related to Plaintiff's alleged injuries. They did not reference Plaintiff's specific injuries, Plaintiff's exposure to wood treating chemicals, or issues of general and specific causation. Quite simply, in defiance of the Circuit Court's December 3, 2008 Order, Plaintiff failed to submit any expert reports discussing her alleged injuries and exposures.

After Plaintiff failed to comply with the December 3, 2008 Order, Defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment. (R. 349-81.) The Circuit Court entered a briefing schedule on the motion on January 22, 2009, ordering Plaintiff to respond to the motion within

ten days. (R. 385-6.) Plaintiff failed to file a response to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment as required by the Circuit Court's January 22, 2009 order. On February 12, 2009, the Circuit Court granted Defendants' Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment, and dismissed Plaintiff's complaint with prejudice. (R. 389-90.) However, on February 20, 2009, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Set Aside Summary Judgment and Allow Plaintiff Five Days to File Out of Time Response. (R. 391-8.) Plaintiff's attorneys claimed that they never received the Circuit Court's January 22, 2009 order setting a briefing schedule on Defendants' Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment. (*Id.*)

On March 10, 2009, the Circuit Court granted Plaintiff's Motion to Set Aside Summary Judgment, and gave Plaintiff the five days she requested in which to respond to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment. (R. 446-9.) Even then, Plaintiff did not comply with the Circuit Court's March 10 order. Instead, on March 18, 2009, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Enter Scheduling Order, requesting that the Circuit Court enter a scheduling order with respect to the remaining 18 plaintiffs. (R. 450-51.) Not only was this submission unresponsive to the Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment, it was untimely.

On March 23, 2009 – eight days after a court deadline Plaintiff had requested – Plaintiff finally responded to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment. (Appellees' R.E. 4; R. 459-76.) This response, however, did not point to any expert disclosures referencing Plaintiff's specific injuries, Plaintiff's exposure to wood treating chemicals, or the issues of general and specific causation for Plaintiff's injuries. Plaintiff's submission of expert reports from unrelated lawsuits involving different plaintiffs and an article about a different wood treating plant in Columbus, Mississippi, was not responsive to Defendants' discovery requests and did not comply with the Circuit Court's December 3, 2008 Order. On this record, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion when it dismissed Plaintiff's complaint pursuant to Rule 41(b)

for failure to comply with the December 3, 2008 Order. *See* Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 41(b); *Wilson*, 4 So. 3d 336; *Taylor*, 717 So. 2d 747 (Miss. 1998).

Plaintiff argues that the dismissal was improper because the record does not reflect delay or contumacious conduct, the Circuit Court did not consider lesser sanctions, and no aggravating factors are present. (Appellant's Brief, pp. 18-22.) As an initial matter, because Plaintiff never raised these arguments below, they are waived. (Appellees' R.E. 4; R. 459-69; Appellees' R.E. 5; R. 605-6.) See Southern v. Miss. State Hosp., 853 So. 2d 1212, 1214-15 (Miss. 2003) (where a party fails to raise a matter before the trial court, the Supreme Court is procedurally barred from considering that matter on appeal).

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